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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 
 

1. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for 

the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b).  

 
2.  Whether an employee who insets a false or misleading statement into 

investor materials, is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c), even if that individual is not the maker of the statement for purposes 

of Rule 10b-5(b). 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 
 
 This case presents the question of the interpretation of the subsections of 

17 CFR § 240.10b-5. The relevant text is reproduced in the Appendix.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

 In 2009, Gianni Marconi started Alcollezione, an alcoholic beverage 

company in Italy. R. 2. Marconi was an American citizen and experienced 

businessman, who had previously created multiple startups in America in 

industries ranging from fashion to retail. R. 1-4. In order to run Alcollezione, 

Marconi contacted a business school friend to serve as CFO, Benny Factor. R. 

1. Factor was also an American citizen and had worked as a financial executive 

at a major corporation in the United States. R. 2. Marconi and Factor first met 

in the United States and, while they were very familiar with American securities 

and enforcement law, had little familiarity with Italian law. R. 2. 

 To deal with this, Marconi and Factor hired Ava Cato, to serve as a senior 

executive and General Counsel. R. 2. After a 2011 Initial Public Offering, 

Marconi, Factor, and Cato met with friends, family, and potential investors in 

New York. R. 3. They noted the popularity of their drinks among Americans. R. 

3. While in New York, a close personal friend of Factor’s asked Marconi about 

creating an American Depository Receipt (ADR), or a security linked to 

Alcollezione’s success. R. 2. Marconi rejected the offer. R. 2. 

 However, later that year, Marconi changed his mind. First, he spoke with 

an American magazine, advertising Alcollezione to potential investors in a 

medium targeted towards the American business community. R. 4. Second, 

when approached once more by Factor’s close personal friend, Marconi finally 
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assented to the creation of the ADR. R. 4. In doing so, he characterized her as 

“a friend of mine.” R. 4. This ADR was presented to American consumers in the 

United States. R. 4. Senior Alcollezione executives continued to be in close 

contact with the ADR’s creators, on one occasion receiving congratulations for 

a specific successful meeting. R. 6. 

 In light of international and American interest, however, Alcollezione 

executives felt pressure for the firm to continue to perform. R. 4-5. Marconi, 

Factor, and Cato all agreed to start production of a spiked mineral water, and 

Cato began research to legally justify this product. R. 5. This product became 

the centerpiece of the 2017 Alcollezione Annual Meeting and Marconi and Cato 

met to discuss her progress on the research. R. 5. Cato was worried, stating 

that compliance with regulations “would be an uphill climb” and while possible 

in the long-term, it “seemed unlikely in the short-term.” R. 5. Marconi was not 

dissuaded and Cato agreed to draft and place positive assurances in both the 

slide deck for the Annual Meeting and the pro-forma financial statements. R. 5-

6. Without knowing if they would be compliant, Cato, the GC and only 

knowledgeable member of the executive staff, made and presented these 

assurances. R. 2-6. They were later inserted in both places. R. 5. The slide deck 

was publicly advertised and available for all to view, including for potential 

interested American investors. R. 6. 

 Alcollezione’s reckless actions would not come to fruition; by March 

2018, the new product was not approved and, as the stock price dropped 

nearly 30%, Marconi, Factor, and Cato all stepped down in shame . R. 6. 
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Nonetheless, neither Italian nor European authorities have pursued any 

additional enforcement actions against the company or its executive staff. R. 7. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009). A reviewing court analyzes a district court’s denial of a motion to 

dismiss de novo. Doe v. United States, 831 F.3d 309, 314 (5th Cir. 2016).   

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

 As described by the 9th Circuit in Stoyas, the proper interpretation of the 

Court’s opinion in Morrison is that a transaction’s domesticity is solely 

sufficient for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). First, the rule in 

Stoyas more accurately represents the plain text and meaning of Morrison than 

the 2nd Circuit’s alternate rule in Parkcentral. Second, the rule in Stoyas more 

closely reflects the purpose behind Section 10(b). Third, the 2nd Circuit’s rule in 

Parkcentral repeats the same errors the Morrison Court criticized in their 

original decision. Therefore, because the parties in the at-issue transaction 

incurred liability in the United States, the transaction is domestic, and Section 

10(b) applies. Additionally, even under the 2nd Circuit’s Parkcentral framework, 

Section 10(b) applies to the at-issue transaction because it is not “so 

predominantly foreign as to be impermissibly extraterritorial.” 

An employee who inserts a false or misleading statement into investor 

materials is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that 

individual is not the “maker” of the statement. Unlike the decision of the Court 
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of Appeals, the holding in Lorenzo properly interprets the text of Rule 10b-5 

and bases its analysis on case history and legislative intent. Therefore, holding 

Ava Cato liable would correctly apply both Lorenzo and the common law 

precedent of the Court. Imposing liability further upholds the purpose of the 

Exchange Act and the intent of Congress. Under the rule in Lorenzo, the Janus 

standard does not apply to Cato’s actions. However, even under the Janus 

framework, Cato is liable because she is a primary violator of Rule 10b-5. 

Additionally, even under the Court of Appeals’ restrictive interpretation of 

Lorenzo and Janus, Cato is liable under Rule 10b-5(b). 

 
ARGUMENT  

 
I.  SECTION 10(B) APPLIES TO THE TRANSACTION AT-ISSUE. 
 

A.  The determination that a transaction is domestic is solely sufficient 
for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 

 
 Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 does not apply 

to extraterritorial transactions. Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 

261-73 (2010). To determine whether a transaction is extraterritorial, the 

Supreme Court utilizes the two-prong test first presented in Morrison. 561 U.S. 

at 267; Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 955 (9th Cir. 2018); Giunta v. 

Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 79 (2nd Cir. 2018). This test provides that a transaction 

is not extraterritorial if (1) it involves a security listed on a domestic exchange 

or (2) it takes place within the United States. Id. Circuit courts generally agree 

that prong (2) is satisfied when the parties to the transaction incur “irrevocable 

liability” within the United States. Absolute Activist Value Master Fund v. Ficeto, 
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677 F.3d 60, 69 (2nd Cir. 2012); see also Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 948-49; U.S. v. 

Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 136-37 (3rd Cir. 2015). 

 The circuits disagree, however, on whether satisfying the Morrison test is 

sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply to a transaction. Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 949-

51; Parkcentral Glob. Hub. Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 

214-17 (2nd Cir. 2014). In 2014, the 2nd Circuit concluded that, while a 

transaction’s domesticity is necessary for Section 10(b) to apply, a transaction 

must not also be “so predominantly foreign as to be impermissibly 

extraterritorial.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 214-16. Two years ago, the 9th Circuit 

disagreed, stating that the Parkcentral decision was “contrary to Section 10(b) 

and Morrison” and instead adopting the rule that a transaction’s domesticity 

alone allows Section 10(b) application. Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 949-51. 

 In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals rejects the 9th Circuit’s view, and 

applies the 2nd Circuit’s additional requirement that a transaction must not be 

“so predominantly foreign as to be impermissibly extraterritorial.” Maj. Op. At 

14-16; Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. Therefore, Petitioner asks the Court to 

reverse the Court of Appeals’ decision. The 9th Circuit’s rule in Stoyas more 

accurately reflects the text of Morrison and the purpose behind Section 10(b), 

and the Parkcentral test simply repeats the mistakes the 2nd Circuit originally 

made in their own Morrison opinion. Given that the parties in the at-issue 

transaction incurred liability in the United States, Section 10(b) ought apply to 

their actions. Additionally, even mirroring the Court of Appeals and using the 

2nd Circuit’s approach in Parkcentral, Section 10(b) still applies to the at-issue 

transaction because it is not “so foreign as to be impermissibly extraterritorial.”  
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1. The 9th Circuit’s Rule in Stoyas more accurately 

represents the plain text and meaning of Morrison 

than the 2nd Circuit’s Rule in Parkcentral. 

 By adding an extratextual second requirement to the Morrison test, the 

Parkcentral court strayed from the plain text and plain meaning of the Morrison 

opinion. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216; Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. The 2nd 

Circuit, and the Court of Appeals in this case, require not just a transaction’s 

domesticity, but also that a transaction is not “so predominantly foreign as to 

be impermissibly extraterritorial.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 214-16; Maj. Op. at 

14. This extratextual requirement undermines Morrison in two ways: first, by 

ignoring the plain text of the Morrison opinion, and second, by going beyond 

the plain meaning of Morrison as interpreted by multiple circuits. Stoyas, 896 

F.3d at 949-51. 

 First, by adding an extratextual second condition, the 2nd Circuit went 

beyond the text of Morrison in an illogical and disfavored manner. Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 216; Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. Morrison explicitly interprets 

Section 10(b) as only applying to “transactions in securities listed on domestic 

exchanges, and domestic transactions in other securities.” 561 U.S. at 267. It 

presents no additional requirement. In reading this analysis, the 2nd Circuit 

argued that because the Court “did not say that such a transaction was 

sufficient to make the statute applicable,” Morrison only articulated a 

necessary, but not sufficient, condition. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. This 

analysis, adopted by the Court of Appeals below, relies wholly on the Court’s 

silence. Such an approach is unworkable: the universe of potential rules is 
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infinite, so by interpreting based on silence on an issue, a court can 

theoretically justify any rule. The only consistent guiding principle for 

interpreting an opinion is the text of the opinion and the Court’s clearly 

articulated analysis. See e.g. Margaret Sachs, The Myth of Congressional 

Silence, 28 Colum. J. Transnat’l L. 677 (1990); Oliver Wendell Holmes, The 

Theory of Legal Interpretation, 12. Harv. L. Rev. 417, 419-20 (1898-99). The 9th 

Circuit in Stoyas followed a much more responsible and consistent approach in 

simply reading the text of Morrison and applying the test which exists on the 

page. 896 F.3d at 949.1  

 Second, both the 2nd Circuit itself, and multiple other circuits, interpret 

the plain meaning of Morrison as stating that a transaction’s domesticity is 

sufficient for an application of Section 10(b). Myun-Uk Choi v. Tower Research 

Capital LLC, 890 F.3d 60, 67 (2nd Cir. 2018); Georgiou, 777 F.3d at 137; U.S. v. 

Isaacson, 752 F.3d 1291, 1299 (11th Cir. 2014); Sec. Exch. Comm’n v. Yang, 

795 F.3d 674, 678 (7th Cir. 2015). In Choi, the 2nd Circuit applied the Morrison 

test to trades made on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange and the Korea 

Exchange. 890 F.3d at 68. In doing so, the court stated: “Morrison clearly 

provided that the ‘domestic transaction’ prong is an independent and sufficient 

basis for application of the Securities Exchange Act to purportedly foreign 

 
1 This approach aligns with how this Court treats silence in other arenas, like 
negative legislative history. There, the Court has heeded Justice Frankfurter’s 
famous warning that courts who rely entirely on silence “venture into 
speculative unrealities.” Helvering v. Hallock, 309 U.S. 106, 120-121 (1940); 
see also John C. Grabow, Congressional Silence and the Search for Legislative 
Intent: A Venture into Speculative Unrealities, 64 B.U. L. Rev. 737 (1984); Daniel 
L. Rotenberg, Congressional Silence in the Supreme Court, 47 U. Miami L. Rev. 
375 (1992). 
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conduct.” Id at 67. This opinion, four years after the opinion in Parkcentral, 

essentially abrogates Parkcentral’s conclusion in Parkcentral’s own circuit. 

Therefore, to the modern 2nd Circuit, the plain meaning of Morrison implies 

sufficiency.  

 When faced with similar questions, multiple other circuits end their 

Morrison analyses by proving a transaction’s domesticity. Georgiou, 777 F.3d at 

137; Isaacson, 752 F.3d at 1299; Yang, 795 F.3d at 678. In analyzing a 

Canadian stock fraud scheme, the 3rd Circuit held that Section 10(b) applied to 

the at-issue transactions solely because the stocks were bought and sold in the 

United States. Georgiou, 777 F.3d at 130-37. In a securities fraud case 

involving hedge funds, the 11th Circuit had “no trouble” concluding that the at-

issue transactions satisfied Morrison based only on the fact that the at-issue 

fund purchased securities in the United States.  Isaacson, 752 F.3d at 1295-

99. In evaluating an SEC fraud action, the 7th Circuit found Section 10(b) 

applied to the at-issue transaction just because the stock was listed on an 

American stock exchange. Yang, 795 F.3d at 676-78. In each case, once they 

proved the domesticity of the at-issue transactions, the circuit ended their 

inquiry. Therefore, multiple circuits interpret Morrison’s plain meaning as 

stating that proving a transaction’s domesticity is sufficient. 

2. The 9th Circuit’s Rule in Stoyas more accurately 
reflects the purpose behind Section 10(b).  

 
 Both the 2nd Circuit in Parkcentral and the Court of Appeals in the case 

at bar incorrectly read Morrison as focusing solely on the presumption against 

extraterritoriality. 763 F.3d at 215-16 (“the principal reason”); Maj. Opp. At 13 
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(“was foremost concerned”). This interpretation completely ignores the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. 

 The Morrison Court, instead, looked to the underlying statute to guide 

their interpretation, concluding that Section 10(b)’s focus was on protecting the 

United States’ sovereign regulatory authority over securities within its 

territorial jurisdiction. 561 U.S. at 266-270. The Court presented an extensive 

analysis comparing the prologue and other sections of the Act, the text of the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1933, and the SEC’s perspective on this 

question. Id. The Court concluded that “the focus of the Exchange Act is not 

upon the place where the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales 

of securities in the United States.” Id.  

A substantial portion of the Parkcentral reasoning, however, relied greatly 

upon the at-issue transactions’ place of origin. 763 F.3d at 215-16. See also 

Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 950 (“And Parkcentral’s analysis relies heavily on the 

foreign location of the allegedly deceptive conduct”). This approach directly 

contradicts Section 10(b)’s exclusive focus on domestic transactions. Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 266. Instead, given that the Act centers domestic transactions, 

requiring only domesticity aligns directly with the intended focus of the 

underlying statute. Id at 266-270. 

3. The 2nd Circuit’s Rule in Parkcentral repeats the 
same errors the Court originally criticized in 
Morrison.   

 
 In Morrison, the Court harshly criticized the 2nd Circuit’s “conduct and 

effects” tests, arguing these tests were both extratextual and unpredictable. 

561 U.S. at 258-61. First, they reprimanded the 2nd Circuit for stepping outside 
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of the Securities and Exchange Act. Id at 258. They quoted language from a 2nd 

Circuit opinion openly admitting their mistake, stating that the “Second Circuit 

never put forward a textual…basis for these tests,”. Id. Second, the Court 

chastised the 2nd Circuit for the difficult administration of these tests, stating 

that there was “no more damning indictment” of the tests than the fact that no 

one factor was determinative. Id at 258-59. Because these tests were based on 

a difficult balance of impossible to weight factors, the Court concluded the 

natural effect was “unpredictable and inconsistent” outcomes. Id at 260-261. 

 In adding a second requirement to the Morrison test, the Parkcentral 

court and the Court of Appeals below repeat the same mistakes. Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 214; Maj. Op. at 14. First, like the “cause and effects” tests, the 

Parkcentral test is extratextual. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 258-61, 267-70. The 

Court in Morrison extensively discussed the Act, looking at multiple sections, 

comparable Acts, and the perspective of relevant government organizations. Id 

at 267-70. In doing so, the Court concluded that the domesticity requirement 

originated in the text of the Act. Id. The Parkcentral court, by comparison, 

never addressed this analysis. 763 F.3d at 215-17. In creating their additional 

requirement, the 2nd Circuit neither quoted the text of Section 10(b), nor 

responded to the Court’s multiple-page analysis of the text of the statute. Id. In 

doing so, the 2nd Circuit repeated the mistake they had made four years before. 

 Second, to apply Parkcentral, the 2nd Circuit undertook an extensive 

factual analysis without presenting a single determinative factor or creating a 

predictable application of their test. Id at 214-17. Indeed, the circuit explicitly 

stated that “the presence of some foreign element in a transaction” did not 
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exclude the transaction from Section 10(b) application. Id at 216-17. Instead, 

they noted that their conclusion was a factual determination based on 

balancing multiple factors. Id. Similarly, in a typical application the Parkcentral 

test, the 2nd Circuit was forced to utilize an extensive factual analysis, input 

multiple factors, and come to a conclusion relating only to the specifics of that 

fact pattern. Prime Int’l Trading, Ltd. v. BP P.L.C., 937 F.3d 94, 106-07 (2nd Cir 

2019). This aligns precisely with the Morrison Court’s fears about the “cause 

and effects” test. 561 U.S. at 258-61.2 

The 2nd Circuit in Parkcentral themselves worried about general 

application of their test because of their lack of expertise with securities 

enforcement. 763 F.3d at 217; Maj. Op. at 14-16. The Parkcentral court stated 

that they did “not purport to proffer a test that will reliably determine when a 

particular invocation of 10(b) will be deemed appropriately domestic or 

impermissibly extraterritorial.” 763 F.3d at 217. They argued this because “[w]e 

have neither the expertise nor the evidence to allow us to lay down…a rule that 

will properly apply the principles of Morrison to every future 10(b) action.” Id. 

This cautionary language indicates their disinterest in creating generalized 

precedent from the case before them. The 2nd Circuit wished to avoid creating a 

test with multiple confusing, difficult to balance, and unpredictable factors, as 

was the case for the “cause and effects” test. Id; Morrison, 561 U.S. at 258-61. 

By attempting to use Parkcentral as the basis for their position, the Court of 

 
2 As the 9th Circuit noted in Stoyas, “Parkcentral’s test for whether a claim is 
foreign is an open-ended, under-defined multi-factor test, akin to 
the…unpredictable tests that Morrison…endeavored to replace with a ‘clear’ 
administrable rule.” 896 F.3d at 950, citing Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269-70. 
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Appeals ignores the concerns of the Parkcentral court itself and repeats the 2nd 

Circuit’s earlier mistakes. Maj. Op. at 14-16. 

4. Because the parties in the at-issue transaction 
incurred liability in the United States, the transaction 
is domestic, and therefore Section 10(b) applies.  

 
 By the “irrevocable liability” test, the at-issue transaction in this case is 

domestic in nature, and Section 10(b) applies. The transaction occurred in New 

York and Connecticut and was between American citizens. Maj. Op. at 14. This 

means that the parties incurred irrevocable liability within the United States, 

which meets the test. Absolute Activist, 667 F.3d at 68-69. As the Court of 

Appeals conceded, “[c]learly the purchase of these ADRs is domestic within the 

meaning of Section 10(b).” Maj Op. at 14. Because this transaction is 

“irrefutably domestic,” Maj. Op. at 14, under the 9th Circuit’s rule in Stoyas 

Section 10(b) applies. 869 F.3d at 949-51. 

 

B.  Even under the 2nd Circuit’s Rule in Parkcentral, Section 
10(b) applies to the at-issue transaction because it is not “so 
predominantly foreign as to be impermissibly 
extraterritorial.”  

 
 The 2nd Circuit has never created a single test or comprehensive list of 

factors for applying the Parkcentral standard of “so predominantly foreign as to 

be impermissibly extraterritorial.” 763 F.3d at 216-17. Instead, they 

established a process to consider “the facts of each case and…combinations of 

facts that have proved determinative in prior cases.” Id at 217. In practice, the 

2nd Circuit has only applied Parkcentral in two cases: first, to a fraudulent 

Bahamian investment, and, second, to derivatives based on North Sea oil. 
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Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82-83; Prime Int’l, 937 F.3d at 104-07. Multiple federal 

district courts have also applied Parkcentral to a variety of fact patterns.3 See 

e.g. Dennis v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., 343 F.Supp.3d 122 (S.D. N.Y. 2018); 

Lykuong Eng v. Akra Agric. Partners, Inc., 2017 WL 5473481 (W.D. Tex. 2017); 

Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Yin Nan Michael Wang, 2015 WL 12656906 (C.D. Cal. 

2015). 

 Courts look at several factors when applying Parkcentral to a set of facts, 

including the contacts between the participants and the United States, the 

origin of the parties, and the balance between the foreign and American 

interests. Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82-83; Prime Int’l, 937 F.3d at 104-07. One factor 

the 2nd Circuit considers is the contacts between the transaction participants 

and the United States. In Giunta, where a businessman attempted to defraud 

Americans based on a fake Bahamian investment opportunity, the 2nd Circuit 

highlighted that the parties had communicated directly with Americans, sent 

messages to interested American parties, and transferred money to the United 

States. 893 F.3d at 82-83. The transaction in Giunta was not extraterritorial. Id 

at 83. Similarly, when evaluating a series of derivatives based on Australian 

commodities, a New York district court highlighted that the fraudulent 

manipulation in question was plausibly aimed at, and openly available to, 

interested American parties. Dennis, 343 F.Supp.3d at *181-*82. By contrast, 

 
3 While district courts have applied Parkcentral somewhat inconsistently, 
district courts who have considered the question of ADRs have generally found 
this type of transaction as not impermissibly extraterritorial. See In re 
Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg. Sales Practices, and Prod. Liab. Litig., 2017 
WL 66281 (N.D. Cal. 2017); Vancouver Alumni Asset Holdings Inc. v. Daimler 
AG, 2017 WL 2378369 (C.D. Cal. 2017). 
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in Prime International, the 2nd Circuit held that four full steps between the 

underlying transactions and the United States were necessary to declare the 

transaction impermissibly extraterritorial.4 937 F.3d at 106-07. 

 A second consideration for courts when applying Parkcentral is the origin 

of the parties. 763 F.3d at 216; Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82-83. The 2nd Circuit in 

Giunta noted, in holding the transaction as not impermissibly extraterritorial, 

that both sides to a fraudulent Bahamian investment were American citizens, 

and familiar with the American laws in question. 893 F.3d at 82-83. In 

Lykuong, a district court in Texas emphasized the American nature of a 

fraudulent investment opportunity in Cambodia, including the nationality of 

the parties and the geographic importance of the United States to the 

agreement. 2017 WL 5473481 at *3. That transaction, too, was not 

impermissibly extraterritorial. Id. In comparison, in Parkcentral, the 2nd 

Circuit’s found the swap agreements pegged to Volkswagen stock as 

impermissibly extraterritorial. 763 F.3d at 216-17. The Parkcentral court 

explicitly described the statements in question as “made primarily in Germany 

with respect to stock in a German company,” once more pointing to the origin 

of the parties as a key factor in their analysis. Id at 216. 

 
4 “Here, Plaintiffs rely on an even more attenuated ‘ripple effects’ theory 
whereby (1) the alleged manipulative trading activity taking place in the North 
Sea (2) affected Brent crude prices — a foreign commodity — which (3) affected 
a foreign benchmark, the Dated Brent Assessment, which (4) was then 
disseminated by a foreign price-reporting agency, which (5) was then allegedly 
used (in part) to price futures contracts traded on exchanges around the world. 
Nearly every link in Plaintiffs’ chain of wrongdoing is entirely foreign.” Prime 
Int’l, 937 F.3d at 106-07.  
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 A third relevant factor in the Parkcentral analysis is the balance between 

foreign and American interests. Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82-83; Prime Int’l, 937 F.3d 

at 104-07. The 2nd Circuit in Giunta held a fraudulent Bahamian investment 

opportunity as not impermissibly extraterritorial, noting the close contacts the 

parties had with the United States and the comparatively weak Bahamian 

interest in the fraud. 893 F.3d at 82-83. When evaluating a “Ponzi-like 

investment scheme” based on foreign investment opportunities, a California 

district court held the transactions in question as not impermissibly 

extraterritorial. Wang, 2015 WL 12656906 at *1-*13. They noted that the 

“locus” of the question was largely within the United States, making this a 

primarily domestic matter. Id at *12. By comparison, in Parkcentral, in finding 

derivatives based on Volkswagen stock impermissibly extraterritorial, the 2nd 

Circuit observed the presence of German securities enforcement as indicative of 

German interests in the matter. 763 F.3d at 216. 

 In the case at bar, every factor suggests that the transaction in question 

is not impermissibly extraterritorial. First, the parties in question had extensive 

contacts with the United States. Marconi spoke with an American magazine 

targeting the American business community to talk up his company, leading to 

media exposure across the ocean. R. 3-4. Marconi spoke with, and gave 

approval to, the American businesspeople creating the at-issue ADR. R. 4. 

Executives at Alcollezione posted the fraudulent materials in question online, 

publicly available for American access. R. 6. Executives were also aware that 

American businesspeople were reading and investing based on these materials; 

after posting the pro-forma financial statements, Alcollezione’s CFO received a 
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congratulatory email from the ADR’s creators. Id. This behavior matches 

directly with the behavior in Giunta. 893 F.3d at 82-83. Additionally, the 

contacts with the United States were direct, while in Prime International, the 2nd 

Circuit required four levels in between the original transaction and the United 

States before declaring the at-issue transaction impermissibly extraterritorial. 

Id at 3-6; 937 F.3d at 106-07. 

 Second, the participants in this case were American citizens. Marconi 

was an American who had a distinguished career creating startups in the 

United States. R. 1. Benny Factor, the CFO, was an American citizen who had 

worked as a financial executive for a major American corporation. R. 1-2. Thus, 

Marconi and Factor were not only American, but they held positions which 

required knowledge of relevant American securities laws. The 2nd Circuit noted 

the presence of the exact same characteristics in Giunta. 893 F.3d at 82-83. To 

declare a transaction impermissibly extraterritorial, however, the 2nd Circuit 

previously required the presence of foreign participants with no interaction 

with the United States. 763 F.3d at 216. 

 Third, there is a weak foreign interest and a strong American interest 

here. As noted above, senior executives of Alcollezione had extensive contacts 

with the American businesspeople who created the ADR, showing American 

interests in the transaction. R. 3-6. Because of the fraudulent misstatements in 

question, American stockholders have lost millions of dollars. R. 6-7. American 

companies have directly borne this burden. R. 7. In contrast, both Italian and 

European governments have shown little interest in pursuing enforcement 

actions, despite ample time to do so. R. 6-7. This situation aligns with that in 
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Giunta, where close contacts with America justified a strong American interest, 

and the district court’s holding in Wang, where the centrality of the United 

States to the injuries in question showed the transaction was not 

impermissibly extraterritorial. Giunta, 893 F.3d at 82-83; Wang, 2015 WL 

12656906 at *1-*12. 

 In sum, because the at-issue transaction is not “so foreign as to be 

impermissibly extraterritorial,” Section 10(b) applies to the transaction and the 

relevant participants. 

II. AN EMPLOYEE WHO INSERTS A FALSE OR MISLEADING 
STATEMENT INTO INVESTOR MATERIALS IS SUBJECT TO PRIMARY 
LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B-(5)(A) OR (C), EVEN IF THAT 
INDIVIDUAL IS NOT THE “MAKER” OF THE STATEMENT. 

 
A. The decision of the Court in Lorenzo should guide the analysis in 

this case. 
 

The Court’s rule in Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, 13. S. Ct. 1094 

(2019), aligns more closely with the text, historical case application, and 

purpose of Rule 10b-5 than the reasoning put forward by the Court of Appeals 

below. In Lorenzo, the Court decided whether an individual who disseminates 

of false or misleading information with the intent to defraud or deceive can be 

held liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and Rule 10b-5(c), even if they are not the 

“maker” of the statements within the meaning of Rule 10b-5(b). Lorenzo, 13 S. 

Ct. at 1100-01 (2019). This decision followed the Court’s ruling in Janus 

Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, which held that for an individual 

to be liable under Rule 10b-5(b), the individual must be a “maker” and have 

“ultimate authority over the statement.” 564 U.S. 135, 142 (2011). The Lorenzo 

rule clarified the Janus standard and established that “dissemination of false 
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or misleading statements with intent to defraud can fall within the scope of 

subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 . . . even if the disseminator did not ‘make’ 

the statements” under rule 10b-5(b). Lorenzo, 13. S. Ct. at 1100.   

The Court of Appeals’ ruling in this case relies upon an improper 

interpretation of the text of Rule 10b-5 and departs from the clear intent of 

Congress and this Court. Therefore, Lorenzo controls because it more closely 

represents the text, historical case application, and purpose of the Act.  

1. Unlike the decision of the Court of Appeals, the holding 
in Lorenzo properly interprets the text of Rule 10b-5.   
 

The Court in Lorenzo properly relied upon textualist analysis and 

dictionary definitions to justify their conclusion that the subsections of Rule 

10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. By contrast, the Court of Appeals in this 

case incorrectly interprets the text of Rule 10b-5 by relying on a single isolated 

quote from Aaron without taking into consideration the relevant context 

provided by that Court.  

The Court in Lorenzo properly interprets the text of Rule 10b-5 and has 

been supported by previous courts. Lorenzo, 13. S. Ct. at 1101.  The controlling 

language in this case comes from Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. As the 

Court noted in Central Bank, “[s]tatutory text controls the definition of conduct 

covered” by the Exchange Act. Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate 

Bank of Denver, N. A., 511 U.S. 164, 175, (1994). The Lorenzo Court, unlike the 

Court of Appeals, relied on dictionary definitions to interpret the range of 

conduct covered by Rule 10b-5, which contains three prohibitions. Rule 10b-

5(a) makes it unlawful to “employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud." 17 
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CFR § 240.10b-5(a). Rule 10b-5(b) prohibits “mak[ing] any untrue statement of 

material fact.” 17 CFR § 240.10b-5(b). Rule 10b-5(c) makes it unlawful to 

“engage in any act, practice, or course of business” that” operates or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.” 17 CFR § 240.10b-5(c). In 

applying dictionary definitions to Rule 10b-5, the Court in Lorenzo held that 

disseminating false information to investors is within the meaning of 

subsections (a) and (c). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. 

Conversely, the Court of Appeals relied on an isolated quote from Aaron, 

arguing that the Rule 10b-5(a) terms require “knowing or intentional practices.” 

Maj. Op. at 21 (quoting Aaron v. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, 446 U.S. 680, 686 

(1980)). The Court of Appeals used this to mean a specific range of actions 

taken by an individual, like price rigging. Id. However, per the Court in Aaron, 

“knowing or intentional practices” applies only to Rule 17(a). Id. at 696. When 

interpreting Rule 10b, Aaron relied upon dictionary definitions and the “plain 

meaning of [Rule] 10b,” just like the Lorenzo Court. Id. In other words, the 

Court in Aaron, in the very portion of the opinion on which the Court of 

Appeals relies, reaffirmed the approach used by the Court in Lorenzo. 

Therefore, by following dictionary definitions in interpreting Rule 10b-5, the 

Court in Lorenzo has a more accurate interpretation of Rule 10b as applicable 

in this case.  

Ava Cato’s willful dissemination of false information directly assuring 

potential investors of their product’s compliance with beverage regulations falls 

within the definitions of subsection (a) and (c) of Rule 10b. Under Rule 10b-

5(a), a “device” is “that which is devised, or formed by design,” a “scheme” is a 
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“project,” “plan[,] or program of something to be done,” and an “artifice” is 

defined as “an artful stratagem or trick.” Aaron, 446 U.S. at 696 n.13. By 

purposefully inserting information that Cato knew to be false about the 

beverage’s guaranteed future approval, she falls directly within the definition of 

Rule 10b-5(a) by engaging in a “device, scheme, or artifice to defraud” potential 

investors. R. at 6; Aaron, 446 U.S. at 696. In interpreting Rule 10b-5(c), this 

Court has previously relied upon the definition of “act” as “a doing” or a “thing 

done,” and “practice” as an “action” or “deed.” Lorenzo, 13 S. Ct. at 1101. By 

drafting and disseminating false legal statements, R. 6., Cato’s actions are “a 

doing” or “deed” during the “course of business that operates . . . as fraud or 

deceit.” Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101.  

2. The decision in Lorenzo more properly interprets Rule 
10b-5 based on case history and legislative intent.  

 
a. Holding Cato liable would correctly apply both Lorenzo 

and the common law precedent of the Court. 
 

While Lorenzo aligns with the traditional common law approach to material 

misstatements in securities fraud, the Court of Appeals’ limitation of the 

Lorenzo rule would depart from the standard traditionally held in common law 

and by the Court. The common law has consistently upheld findings of liability 

for material misstatements in cases where the individual did not “make” the 

misstatement. 1 Melville M. Bigelow, A Treatise on the Law of Fraud on its Civil 

Side 247 (1888).5 This Court has recognized that “an important purpose of the 

 
5 See also, Wells et al. v Houston, 13 Tex. Civ. App. 629 (1900) (stating “[t]he 
law is that, where a man has conspired with others to cheat and defraud the 
plaintiff in the sale of certain property by fraudulent concealments or 
misrepresentations . . . he will be liable even where he himself has not made 
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federal securities statutes was to rectify perceived deficiencies in the available 

common-law protections by establishing higher standards of conduct in the 

securities industry.” Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 389 

(1983). Federal law regulating securities, therefore, serves to respond to and 

prevent fraud in securities markets that the common law would not otherwise 

rectify. So if an individual would be liable for her actions under the common 

law, she would similarly be liable under federal law. Id. at 388-389.   

Additionally, the precedent set by this Court illustrates that an individual 

may be held liable for material misstatements under 10b-5 provisions other 

than subsection (b). This Court has adopted the standard that Rule 10b-5 

subsections are “mutually supporting rather than mutually exclusive.” 

Chiarella v. U.S., 445 U.S. 222 at 228 (1980). In Affiliated Ute, the Court held 

that the defendants violated Rule 10b-5 by purchasing stock from sellers 

without disclosing material facts about the value of the shares. Affiliated Ute 

Citizens of Utah v. U.S., 406 U.S. 128, 148 (1972). The Court stated that while 

Rule 10b-5(b) was restricted to those who make material misstatements, 

subsections (a) and (c) “are not so restricted.” Id. at 150-153.  

The Court of Appeals erred by restricting the holding in Lorenzo to only SEC 

enforcement. The Court in Lorenzo created a rule consistent with the 

traditional interpretation of material misstatements in securities fraud and 

 
any of the misrepresentations complained of”); Bank of Commerce & Trust Co. v. 
Schooner, 160 N.E. 790, 792 (Mass. 1928) (holding that a defendant is liable for 
a “scheme to defraud” an individual based on deceptive conduct even if the 
misrepresentations were made by another). Note that prior to 1933, most 
securities regulations were at the state level. 1 Blue Sky Regulation § 1.02 
(2020). 
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Rule 10b-5. 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Under the common law, regardless of whether 

Cato drafted the material misstatements, she would be found liable for fraud 

because she conspired to defraud investors through misrepresentation. R. at 5-

6; Wells et al., 13 Tex. Civ. App. 629. Additionally, like the defendants in 

Affiliated Ute, Cato withheld material facts about Alcollezione’s product from 

investors, making her liable for violations of Rule 10b-5(a) under the previous 

decisions of this Court. R. at 5-6; Affiliated Ute, 406 U.S. at 148. Therefore, 

under both the common law and the precedent set by this Court, Cato is liable 

for her intentional dissemination of material misstatements.  

b. Holding Cato liable under Rule 10b-5 upholds the 
purpose of the Exchange Act and the intent of Congress.  
 

 The relevant legislative history of the Exchange Act illustrates that the 

rule articulated by the Court in Lorenzo aligns closely with the original purpose 

of the Act. In passing the Exchange Act, Congress sought to raise the “standard 

of business ethics in the securities industry.” Sec. Exch. Comm’n v. Zanford, 

535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002). The purpose of the Act was to prevent the use of 

“inequitable and unfair practices” in securities exchanges and markets.  

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ch. 404, 48 Stat. 881 (15 U.S.C. 789 et seq.). 

In practice, Congress intended different portions of securities laws to govern 

the same conduct. As the Court noted in Naftalin, in adding these sections, 

Congress sought “to cover additional kinds of illegalities – not to narrow the 

reach of the prior sections.” United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768, 774 (1979).   

 The Lorenzo interpretation of Rule 10b-5 aligns more closely with the 

purpose of the Exchange Act than the Court of Appeals’ rule. In creating Rule 
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10b-5, the Senate identified dissemination of misleading information as a 

“device” intended to be regulated by Rule 10(b). S. Rep. No. 792, 73d Cong., 2d 

Sess. 8-9, 18 (1934). The Lorenzo rule criminalizing individuals who 

“disseminate false statements with the intent to cheat investors” would prevent 

Cato from escaping “liability under the Rule altogether.” Lorenzo 139 S.Ct. at 

1103. This matches the direct intent of Congress in allowing the conviction of 

individuals engaged in “inequitable and unfair practices.” Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, ch. 404, 48 Stat. 881 (15 U.S.C. 789 et seq.). Under the Court of 

Appeals’ interpretation, Cato is neither the “maker nor the disseminator of the 

statements” and therefore escapes liability completely. Maj. Op. at 22. By 

failing to find Cato liable under Rule 10b-5, then, the Court of Appeals acted in 

direct opposition to the intent of Congress.  

3. Under the Lorenzo rule, Janus does not apply to Cato’s 
actions.  

 
The Court of Appeals is mistaken in finding that “the Court in Lorenzo 

eviscerated the clear line drawn between primary and secondary liability” 

established in Janus. Maj. Op. at 20; Janus, 564 U.S. at 135-80. Instead, the 

Lorenzo rule serves to interpret and provide clarity on the primary and 

secondary liability standard under Janus.  The Lorenzo holding maintains a 

narrow scope of application and applies only in situations where an individual 

disseminates false information with the intent to defraud. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 

at 1097. Under Lorenzo’s framework, however, the Janus standard still places 

10b-5(b) liability on an individual who “makes” a material misstatement with 

the intent to defraud or deceive. Janus, 564 U.S. at 142.  The Court in Lorenzo 
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summarized their new regime, noting that the Janus rule “would remain 

relevant (and preclude liability) where an individual neither makes nor 

disseminates false information.” Lorenzo, 129 S. Ct. at 1103. Lower courts have 

applied this clear distinction between Lorenzo and Janus with ease. In 

Ensource Invs. LLC v. Willis, the court found the Lorenzo rule controls 

exclusively where there is dissemination, leaving the Janus rule intact. 2019 

WL 6700430, *14 (2019).  

Ava Cato is primarily liable under subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 

for disseminating misleading misstatements with the intent to defraud 

potential investors as she falls within Lorenzo and not Janus.  In Lorenzo, the 

Court found an employee primarily liable for disseminating false information 

based on two emails he sent to prospective investors. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 1099-

1101. These emails contained a statement the employee himself drafted and 

knew to be false, were signed by the employee identifying himself as “Vice 

President – Investment Banking,” and stated that questions about the content 

of the email should be sent to him. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099. The Court in 

Lorenzo found the actions of the subordinate employee fell squarely within Rule 

10b-5 provisions. Id. at 1101.  

Cato’s actions establish that she was more directly involved in the 

“scheme or artifice to defraud” investors than the employee in Lorenzo, and 

therefore fall squarely within the Lorenzo holding and primary liability under 

Rule 10b-5 provisions. Prior to drafting the false statement, Cato had a 

conversation with Marconi and stated that approval “seemed unlikely in the 

short term.” R. at 5; Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099–1100. Therefore, like Lorenzo, 
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Cato knew that the information shared was false. R.at 6; Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1099–101. Like the employee in Lorenzo, who emailed the false information to 

potential investors, after drafting the statement Cato “subsequently inserted 

[the statement] into Marconi’s slide deck and…proforma financial statements” 

which she knew would be shared with investors. R.at 6; Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1101. Therefore, Cato falls under the rule in Lorenzo and Rule 10b-5 liability. 

However, unlike the employee in Lorenzo, who did not draft the 

statement sent to investors but instead forwarded information from his boss, 

Cato drafted the statement based on her own research. R. at 5-6. Lorenzo, 139 

S.Ct. at 1099-100. In her capacity as the General Counsel, and the only 

attorney for Alcollezione, Cato was the lone individual who had the ability to 

draft the legal statement disseminated in the slides and financial statements. 

R. at 2, 6. Additionally, Cato was the only individual within Alcollezione who 

was even qualified to answer questions about the regulatory compliance of the 

beverages. R. at 2, 5-6; Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100. Under the holding in 

Lorenzo, because Cato was uniquely situated in her position as GC and more 

involved in the creation and dissemination of the material misstatement than 

the employee in Lorenzo, her actions subject her to primary liability under Rule 

10b-5(a) and (c). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100-101.  

B. Even under the Janus framework, Cato is liable because she is the 
“maker” of the statement. 

 
Under the holding in Janus, for an individual to be liable under Rule 

10b-5(b), they had to have “made” the material misstatement in question. To 

qualify as a “maker,” an individual must be “the person or entity with ultimate 
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authority over the statement, including its content and whether and how to 

communicate it.” Janus at 142. “Maker” is best defined as in the line of cases 

preceding Janus, including Central Bank. Under the Janus rule, Cato is liable 

under 10b-5(b) because she meets all four requirements for primary liability.  

While the Court of Appeals improperly interpreted Janus, Cato is still primarily 

liable as a maker under their reading of Rule 10b-5 because she had the 

“ultimate authority over the statement.” Id.   

1. Under Janus, Cato is liable as a primary violator of Rule 
10b-5. 

 
In developing a standard to determine who qualified as a “maker,” the 

Court in Janus relied upon Central Bank. Janus, 564 U.S. at 143. Interpreting 

Janus in the frame set by Central Bank upholds the Janus Court’s goal to 

create a rule that did not “substantially undermine Central Bank.” Id. 

Per the line of cases preceding Janus, an individual may still be liable if 

they are not the “maker” of the statements if they meet the requirements for 

primary liability under Rule 10b-5. The Court in Central Bank held that 

secondary actors cannot always escape liability under the Securities Acts. 511 

U.S. at 191. In these situations, the Court explained that “any person or entity, 

including a lawyer . . . who employs a manipulative device or makes a material 

misstatement . . . on which a purchaser or seller of securities relies may be 

liable as a primary violator” so long as they meet the requirements for primary 

liability6 under Rule 10b-5. Id at 191. Therefore, while the Janus holding 

 
6 To establish primary liability under Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff must establish: 1) 
an individual acted in connection with the purchase or sale of a security; 2) the 
actor made an untrue statement of material fact or failed to state a material 
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requires an individual to be a “maker” under Rule 10b-5(b), in relying on 

Central Bank, an individual may still be liable if they meet the requirements for 

primary liability under Rule 10b-5.   

Cato is primarily liable under Rule 10b-5 as a “lawyer…who employ[ed] a 

manipulative device or ma[de] a material misstatement.” Id. Because Cato 

meets all four of the requirements for primary liability under Rule 10b-5, she is 

primarily liable under Central Bank and, therefore, Janus. First, Cato acted in 

connection with the sale of the ADRs and stock for Alcollezione by purposefully 

sharing her statement in the slide deck. Second, Cato made an untrue 

statement regarding the beverage regulations. Third, Cato knew her statement 

about the beverage regulations was false after conducting regulatory research 

for Alcollezione. Finally, American investors relied upon the statement and this 

proximately resulted in damages. R. at 5-6; Fischel, 69 Calif.L.Rev., at 107-108. 

Therefore, because Cato meets the requirements for primary liability under 

Rule 10b-5, she is primarily liable under the holdings of both Central Bank and 

Janus. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191. 

2. Even under the Court of Appeals’ restrictive 
interpretation of Janus, Cato is liable as the “maker” of 
the fraudulent statements at-issue. 

 
The Court of Appeals held that only a “maker” of a statement can be 

primarily liable under any of the provisions of Rule 10b-5. Maj. Op. at 20-21 

 
fact; 3) the actor knew the statement was false and acted to deceive or defraud; 
and 4) the statement was relied upon and resulted in damages as a proximate 
result. Daniel R. Fischel, Secondary Liability under Section 10(b) of the 
Securities Act of 1934, 69 Calif.L.Rev. 80, 107-108 (1981) relied upon by 
Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191.  
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Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals erred in finding Cato not liable under Rule 

10b-5.   

Other courts, utilizing a similar interpretation of Janus as the Court of 

Appeals, have found individuals primarily liable for fraudulent misstatements 

under Rule 10b-5(b).7 In Sec. Exch. Comm’n v. Merkin, the district court found 

the defendant primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b) for making false statements 

in connection with the purchase and sale of stock.8 2012 WL 5245561 (S.D. 

Fla. 2012). In Merkin, the defendant was an attorney tasked with preparing 

Attorney Letters containing material “relied upon by public investors in making 

their investment decisions.” Id. at *4. The defendant drafted the statement and 

sent it to the corporation with knowledge that the statement would be placed 

online and accessed by investors. Id. at *19. The court found that, despite 

preparing the statement on behalf of the corporation, there was “no dispute 

that [the defendant] is the person with ultimate authority over the statement, 

including its content and whether to communicate it.” Id. Therefore, in 

applying the Janus rule, the court found the defendant primarily liable under 

Rule 10b-5(b).   

Cato is primarily liable as the “maker” of the material misstatements under 

Rule 10b-5(b). Like the defendant in Merkin, Cato was asked to and drafted the 

 
7 ESG Capital Partners, LP v. Stratos, 828 F.3d 1023 (9th Cir. 2016) (finding an 
attorney liable under rule 10b-5(b) for making assurances to a managing agent 
and potential investors related to company capital); Sec. Exch. Comm’n v. 
Monterosso, 756 F.3d 1326, 1334 (11th Cir. 2014) (finding 10b-5(b) liability 
where an employee “made deceptive contributions to an overall fraudulent 
scheme”). 
8 This decision was affirmed by the 11th Circuit in Sec. Exch. Comm’n v. Merkin, 
2016 U.S. App. LEXIS *451 (11th Cir. 2016).  
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material misstatements related to the beverage’s regulatory compliance in her 

capacity as General Counsel. R. at 6; Merkin, 2012 WL 5245561 at *4. Further, 

like the defendant in Merkin, Cato drafted statements that were “subsequently 

inserted…into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s proforma financial 

statements.” R. at 6; Merkin, 2012 WL 5245561 at *7. Cato, therefore, had 

knowledge that the materials would be “relied upon by public investors in 

making their investment decisions.” R. at 5-6; Merkin, 2012 WL 5245561, at 

*19.  Thus, like the attorney in Merkin, Cato is primarily liable as the “maker” 

of the material misstatements.  

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Court to 

reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit.  

Respectfully submitted, 

________________/s/ 

Team P06 
Counsel on Record for Petitioner 
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APPENDIX 

 
§ 240.10b-5 Employment of manipulative and deceptive devices.  
 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, but the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange,  
 
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,  
 
(b) To make any untrue statement of material fact or to omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or  
 
(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,  
 
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.  


